FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/28/2025 4:33 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/29/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. ____ COA No. 59648-2-II Case #: 1041098

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN TRUONG,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ARIANA DOWNING Attorney for Petitioner WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 ariana@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

John Truong, petitioner, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on February 11, 2025 (App. A), and it denied Mr. Truong's motion to reconsider on March 27, 2025 (App. B).

B. INTRODUCTION

Due process requires a remedy when someone was harmed by an unconstitutional statute. This remedy differs based on the injury suffered and other factors. The United States Supreme Court is clear that in situations where an injury stems from power and authority which the government would not have had but for the unconstitutional statute, the appropriate remedy is to retroactively void the power unlawfully granted by the unconstitutional statute.

Here, the government exercised power over John Truong pursuant to a conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance ("UPCS"). Mr. Truong was sentenced to community custody for this conviction, which permitted the government to search his home with only a reasonable suspicion that he had violated a term of his community custody (failing to update his address with the Department of Corrections ("DOC")). The government exercised this authority, discovering evidence of additional crimes for which Mr. Truong was convicted in this case.

Mr. Truong's conviction for UPCS was later vacated due to this Court's decision in *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). Mr. Truong filed a motion for relief from his conviction in this case under CrR 7.8. He argued that his unlawful UPCS conviction could not have granted the government authority to

search his home, and he also disputed an additional basis claimed as authority to search (consent of his mother). The trial court denied his motion, and then the Court of Appeals denied his appeal based on this Court's decision in *State v. Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d 689, 55 P.3d 868 (2024).

This Court should grant review for multiple reasons: first, it should grant review because the Court of Appeals' opinion improperly extended this Court's holding in *Olsen*. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Second, this Court should grant review because the opinion conflicts with binding United States Supreme Court precedent regarding due process remedies for an unconstitutional statute. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Third, this Court should grant review because this case presents an enduring question of constitutional interpretation—what retroactive effect to give to an unconstitutional statute while it

existed—for which little Washington precedent exists. *Id.* Fourth, this Court should grant review because this case expands on and elucidates the question currently pending before this Court in *State v. Balles*, Supreme Court Case No. 103582-9. RAP 13.4(b)(4). And fifth, this Court should grant review to clarify the courtmade test for newly discovered evidence under CrR 7.8. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. What effect to give to an unconstitutional statute while it existed has troubled Washington courts in the wake of *Blake*. In *Olsen*, this Court evaluated whether subsequent invalidation of a statute changed a defendant's mental state when he previously pleaded guilty. *Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d at 691. By contrast, Mr. Truong's case asks whether subsequent invalidation of a statute changed the power and privilege of the

government to interfere with his right to privacy while the statute existed. Const. art I, § 7. These are different questions which involve fundamentally different effects of an unconstitutional statute. Did the Court of Appeals err to extend this Court's holding in *Olsen* to Mr. Truong's situation?

2. The United States Supreme Court has held that due process requires meaningful retroactive relief from deprivations created by an unconstitutional statute. Where the unconstitutional statute grants powers and privileges to the government that it otherwise would not possess, the only adequate remedy is to make the injured party whole by treating the misbegotten power as void. Here, the unconstitutional UPCS statute granted powers and privileges to the government to search Mr. Truong's home that it otherwise would not have had. Does the Court of

Appeals' denial of remedial relief here violate due process?

3. Consent cannot serve as justification to search if the consent was not voluntarily given. After *Blake*, the consent of Mr. Truong's mother remained the only justification for the search of the garage. For the first time, her testimony about that consent was relevant and admissible. Can this evidence satisfy the test for newly discovered evidence justifying relief from judgment under CrR 7.8?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2018, John Truong was on community custody supervision for a prior UPCS conviction. CP 2, 87-88.

While he was under this supervision, community corrections officers ("CCOs") searched a garage that they believed Mr. Truong was using as his residence.

CP 2. They believed they had reasonable suspicion that

Mr. Truong had violated his community custody terms by failing to notify his CCO of a change in his address. CP 41.

The officers discovered a safe during their search of the garage. CP 2. They later obtained a warrant to search the safe and found a firearm, methamphetamine, heroin, and other drugs. CP 3. Mr. Truong was later tried and convicted for unlawfully possessing the firearm and for unlawfully possessing the methamphetamine with intent to deliver, with a firearm enhancement. CP 8.

After these convictions, Mr. Truong's prior UPCS conviction was vacated by *Blake*. CP 82; 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). Mr. Truong subsequently moved *pro se* to vacate the judgment in this case under CrR 7.8, arguing that the State unlawfully found the gun and drugs. CP 71-92. Mr. Truong reasoned that

the State could not claim authority of law to search the garage because his status on community custody was unlawful due to the unconstitutionality of his conviction. CP 76. He also argued that the State lacked consent to search the garage due to a newly submitted affidavit from his mother stating that she was physically restrained by law enforcement and did not consent to a search. CP 72, 85.

The State conceded that Mr. Truong's CrR 7.8 motion was timely and that the trial court was the proper venue. CP 97; RP 25. It nevertheless argued that the court should deny Mr. Truong's motion because the State never lost authority to search under *Blake* and Ms. Truong's declaration was not newly discovered. CP 97-99.

The court held a hearing but took no testimony and received no evidence. RP 23-31. The court found

that Mr. Truong's motion was timely, but it denied his motion because it found that the mother's declaration was not "newly discovered evidence" and that the State had authority to search because, at the time, the conviction was not yet invalid. RP 28-30. Three months after the hearing, the Court filed findings of fact and conclusions of law proposed by the State. CP 207-210.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals improperly extended this Court's holding in *Olsen*

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals improperly extended this Court's recent ruling in *Olsen* to Mr. Truong's case.

Mr. Truong argued the police unlawfully searched his home in order to find the drugs and guns that formed the basis of his felony convictions in this case because their power to search was granted by an

unconstitutional conviction. App's Op. Br. at 9-27. The government claimed Mr. Truong's community custody status for a UPCS conviction authorized the warrantless search. The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Truong's argument by relying on this Court's decision in *Olsen*. App. A. at 6; *Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d at 689.

In *Olsen*, the appellant sought to withdraw two almost-20-year-old guilty pleas in cases where he pled guilty to UPCS and another crime. *Id.* at 691. The trial court vacated the UPCS convictions due to *Blake*, but it denied the appellant's motions to withdraw his guilty pleas to the non-UPCS crimes. *Id.* This Court held that the appellant's motion to withdraw his guilty pleas was time barred. *Id.* at 692.

Although the ruling that the appellant's motion was time barred dispositively resolved his appeal, this Court also reasoned that *Blake* does not establish a

ground to withdraw these guilty pleas. Olsen, 3 Wn.3d at 692. This Court reasoned that because the appellant was apprised of the correct law at the time, the pleas were knowing and voluntary. *Id.* at 699. This Court's decision in *Blake* did not make the crime "nonexistent" at the time of the plea. Id. at 698. The Court found that although *Blake* made the appellant's UPCS convictions invalid, "it did not retroactively render his guilty pleas unknowing and involuntary." Id. at 701. In other words, Blake "does not provide new legal grounds for determining whether [appellant] voluntarily and knowingly pleaded guilty to drug possession, a valid crime in 2003 and 2005." Id. at 701.

This ruling in *Olsen* is different from the issues before this Court and should not be extended to this case for two reasons. First, the questions presented are different and rely on different effects of the *Blake*

decision. Olsen asked the Court to determine whether subsequent invalidation of a statute changed a defendant's mental state when he previously pleaded guilty. Olsen, 3 Wn.3d at 691. Mr. Truong's case asks the Court to determine whether subsequent invalidation of a statute changed the power and privilege of the government to interfere with a person's right to privacy under the Washington Constitution. Const. art I, § 7. These are different questions which involve fundamentally different effects of an unconstitutional statute. The reasoning in Olsen does not extend to this situation.

Second, the United States Supreme Court cases cited approvingly in *Olsen* require a different result in Mr. Truong' case. *Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d at 700-01; *Chicot Cnty. Drainage Dist. v. Baxter State Bank ("Chicot County")*, 308 U.S. 371, 374, 60 S. Ct. 317, 84 L. Ed.

329 (1940); Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 297-98, 97 S. Ct. 2290, 53 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1977); McKesson Corp. v. Div. of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco, 496 U.S. 18, 39-40, 110 S. Ct. 2238, 110 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1990). These cases hold that due process requires a remedy for injuries suffered due to an unconstitutional statute, but that the nature of the remedy depends on the nature of the injury. Careful review of these cases shows that treating Mr. Truong as if he were not subject to the constraints of community custody at the time of the search in this case is the only adequate remedy for this effect of his unconstitutional UPCS conviction.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedent interpreting the retroactive effect to give an unconstitutional statute

The question of what effect to give to an unconstitutional statute while it existed is "among the

most difficult of those which have engaged the attention of courts, state and federal." *Chicot County*, 308 U.S. at 374. Many considerations factor into the legal effect to be given to an unconstitutional statute while it is in existence:

The actual existence of a statute, prior to such a determination, is an operative fact and may have consequences which cannot justly be ignored. The past cannot always be erased by a new judicial declaration. The effect of the subsequent ruling as to invalidity may have to be considered in various aspects,—with respect to particular relations, individual and corporate, and particular conduct, private and official. Questions of rights claimed to have become vested, of status, of prior determinations deemed to have finality and acted upon accordingly, of public policy in the light of the nature both of the statute and of its previous application, demand examination.

Id. at 374. Because of these considerations, the Supreme Court ruled that "an all-inclusive statement of a principle of absolute retroactive invalidity cannot be justified." Id. The Court did not say that the

principle itself can never be justified, just that it cannot be justified in every case. *Id*.

A careful review of Supreme Court precedent examining the effects to be given to an unconstitutional statute while it was in effect shows that the principle of void *ab initio* is not wholly rejected. In fact, it is the only legally justifiable remedy when an unconstitutional statute grants additional power or privilege to the government that it would not otherwise possess.

a. Due Process requires a complete remedy in cases where an unconstitutional statute created an injury

The Supreme Court's analysis of the appropriate remedy for deprivations caused by operation of an unconstitutional statute in the cases of *Chicot County*, *Dobbert*, and *McKesson* is informative for this Court's analysis. This is despite the fact that none of these

cases involved an unconstitutional substantive criminal offense. Chicot County involved an unconstitutional bankruptcy statute. 308 U.S. at 373-74 (citing Ashton v. Cameron Cnty Water Improvement Dist., 298 U.S. 513, 56 S. Ct. 892, 80 L. Ed. 1309 (1936)). McKesson involved an unconstitutional taxation statute. 496 U.S. at 22. And Dobbert involved an unconstitutional criminal procedure statute. 432 U.S. at 293.

Since the issues involved only monetary penalties or losses in *Chicot County* and *McKesson*, the analyses in those cases do not weigh issues as weighty as a criminal conviction and its resulting loss of liberty and other collateral consequences. However, the way the Supreme Court approached its task of determining the effect to give to these unconstitutional civil statutes is instructive. For example, *Chicot County* balanced

issues of waiver and reliance and the power of the court to issue similar judgments in different cases. 308 U.S. at 375-78.

McKesson engaged in a more detailed examination of interests and remedies, so its analysis is most helpful for this Court's task. There, McKesson, a private company, challenged a Florida liquor excise tax, arguing that it violated the Commerce Clause because it discriminated against out-of-state liquor distributors in favor of local producers. McKesson, 496 U.S. at 22. The Florida Supreme Court agreed that the statute violated the Commerce Clause and enjoined its future enforcement, but it refused to order any retroactive relief for taxes unlawfully paid. *Id*. McKesson appealed the court's denial of retroactive relief. Id.

The Supreme Court held that when a State "places a taxpayer under duress promptly to pay a tax when due and relegates him to a postpayment refund action in which he can challenge the tax's legality, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment obligates the State to provide meaningful backward-looking relief to rectify any unconstitutional deprivation." McKesson, 496 U.S. at at 31 (emphases added).

The Supreme Court then examined the appropriate retroactive relief. *Id.* at 31-36. It evaluated the proper remedy based on the nature of the unconstitutionality of the taxation statute. If the taxation statute went beyond the State's power to legislate, then a full refund was the only remedy for "the tax previously paid under duress." *Id.* at 39.

But the Florida tax was not completely unconstitutional, it was only unconstitutional insofar as it discriminated against interstate commerce. *Id*.

Therefore, any remedy the State chose to employ needed only to treat McKesson and its competitors equally. *Id*. at 39-40. The Court left the precise remedy to the State, as long as it eliminated the unlawful deprivation. *Id*. at 43.

This analysis is helpful for several reasons. First, it holds that due process requires meaningful retroactive relief from deprivations created by an unconstitutional statute. *McKesson*, 496 U.S. at 31; see also Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190, 198, 136 S. Ct. 718, 728, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016) (holding "courts must give retroactive effect to new 'rules forbidding criminal punishment of certain primary conduct."). This means that this Court must

consider what meaningful retroactive relief looks like to a person whose home was searched under claimed governmental authority, solely granted by an unconstitutional conviction for UPCS. A person convicted of UPCS receives no meaningful relief when courts of this State continue to give full effect to the conviction's collateral authorization to the government to intrude into constitutionally protected privacy and liberty. Const. art. I, § 7.

Meaningful relief here requires retroactive invalidation of the government's authority to invade Mr. Truong's privacy. This means giving the unconstitutional statute a void *ab initio* effect in this context and suppressing evidence that would not have been found but for the authority created by Mr. Truong's unconstitutional conviction.

Instead, the Court of Appeals' decision rendered the vacatur of Mr. Truong's conviction meaningless.

Under the Court of Appeals' interpretation, a conviction for an unconstitutional crime founded on innocent conduct gave the government power to intrude on Mr. Truong's privacy that it would not have had if he had not been convicted. This violated Mr. Truong's privacy and due process rights to a meaningful remedy for his unconstitutional conviction.

U.S. Const., Amend. XIV, § 1; Const. art. I, § 7.

Second, *McKesson* explains that the type of remedy is tied to the magnitude and type of the illegality. Due process requires the remedy to "undo' the unlawful deprivation" for statutes which exceeded the power of the legislature. *McKesson*, 496 U.S. at 39. This is instructive because the UPCS statute was unconstitutional because it exceeded the police power

of the legislature. *Blake*, 192 Wn.2d at 176. The remedy thus needs to completely "undo" the unlawful deprivation of Mr. Truong's privacy rights.

If paying a tax in advance is *duress* requiring adequate remedy, then losing constitutional rights while on community custody for an illegal crime requires even more. Per Blake, individuals convicted of UPCS spent months or years of their lives incarcerated and years of their lives where their liberty was unconstitutionally and unjustifiably curtailed by the strictures of community custody. These folks missed everything from the simple joys of a free life, like choosing their own dinner and going for a walk on a sunny spring afternoon, to the ability to feel free in their own home from intrusion by the State. No retroactive remedy can ever make these folks whole, but it can treat them, legally, as if they were not under

unconstitutional restraint. This is required here to undo the harm to Mr. Truong from his suffering an unconstitutional conviction and punishment.

The only way to negate the windfall the government received is to treat Mr. Truong as if he were an ordinary citizen, not encumbered by community custody supervision. *McKesson* instructs that due process requires the court to construct a retroactive remedy that makes the person harmed by an unconstitutional statute whole. 496 U.S. at 36-39. "States may not disregard a controlling, constitutional command in their own courts." *Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 198. The Court of Appeals failed to follow constitutional commands here because it failed to acknowledge that due process required retroactive remedies in addition to vacatur of Mr. Truong's UPCS conviction. App. A. at 2.

b. Dobbert also fails to support a lesser remedy than void ab initio

In *Dobbert*, another case *Olsen* relied on, the Supreme Court examined whether a new procedural criminal law, meant to cure defects in its unconstitutional predecessor, could be applied retroactively. *Dobbert*, 432 U.S. at 293; *Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d at 700-01. The predecessor statute in *Dobbert* provided an unconstitutional process for a judgment of death in a capital case. 432 U.S. at 292. The new law remedied those issues and was applied retroactively to the defendant's case. *Id*.

The United States Supreme Court evaluated whether the new procedural law violated *ex post facto* guarantees. *Id.* at 293. *Ex post facto* prohibits "any statute which punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent when done, which makes more burdensome the punishment for a crime,

after its commission, or which deprives one charged with crime of any defense available according to law at the time when the act was committed" *Id.* at 292. The Court concluded that because the law was both procedural and ameliorative, as opposed to substantive, there was no *ex post facto* violation. *Id.* at 292.

The reasoning of *Dobbert* supports a void *ab initio* remedy here even though the ameliorative, procedural law at issue in *Dobbert* did not get that treatment. The reasons this Court held the UPCS statute unconstitutional invoke the concerns which give rise to our nation's prohibition against *ex post facto* laws:

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