FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2025 3:11 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 104109-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JOHN PHI TRUONG,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN P. JURVAKAINEN Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney

DAKOTA BLACK, WSBA #54090 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91091

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Dakota Black, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals' decision that the order vacating Truong's conviction did not entitle him to relief because DOC (Department of Corrections) had "authority under RCW 9.94A.631(1) to search Truong's residence because law enforcement relied on the community custody only to the extent that it contributed to the circumstances supporting reasonable cause to search, and law enforcement's reliance on former RCW 69.50.4013(1) was reasonable because the statute was presumptively valid at the time" is correct. A such, the Court of Appeals' holding that his mother's affidavit did not constitute newly discovered evidence that would change the result of the

¹ State v. Truong, 33 Wn. App. 2d 1071, 7, WL 455283 (2025) (unpublished). GR 14.1.

trial in light of DOC's authority is also correct. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of *State of Washington v. John Phi Truong*, Court of Appeals No. 59648-2-II.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Does the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's ruling that DOC had valid authority to search and that Truong's mother's affidavit did not constitute newly discovered evidence meet criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Phi Truong was convicted by a jury of unlawful possession of a controlled substance (UPCS) with the intent to deliver with a firearm enhancement and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 8 (clerk's papers). The original judgement and sentence was entered on February 20, 2019. CP 8. Truong did not challenge the search or evidence. *State v. Truong*, 16 Wn.

App. 2d 1064, 2, WL 872688 (2021) (unpublished)². Truong lived in his mother's garage which had been converted into a living space. Id. at 1; CP 39-40. Truong and two others spent the night in a garage and did drugs together. Id.; CP 40. The next day, Truong believed drugs were missing and pulled out a firearm. *Id.*; CP 40. The mother of one of the individuals in the garage called law enforcement. Id.; CP 40. Police and the Department of Corrections responded to the residence. Law enforcement did not have a warrant, but officers obtained consent from Truong's mother to search. Id.; CP 40. Since Truong had conditions of community custody in place, DOC had reasonable cause to believe he violated a condition of his sentence: failing to notify DOC of a change of address. Id. at 2, n.1; CP 41. Officers assembled in front of the garage door where the garage eventually rolled up and Truong appeared. Id. at 1; CP 41. Truong sprinted across the driveway and ran into a DOC officer,

² Cited pursuant to GR14.1, the Court of Appeals previously laid out the facts of the case.

where he was arrested. *Id.*; CP 41. Truong had a scale with apparent drug residue on it on his person. *Id.*; CP 41. DOC began to search the garage, and a police officer observed a bag from the outside. *Id.* at 2; CP 41. DOC retrieved the bag. *Id.*; CP 41. The officer observed contents of the bag and instructed DOC to hold on to the bag. *Id.*; CP 41. The bag was searched pursuant to a warrant and inside was a safe. *Id.*; CP 42. The safe was opened, and officers found a revolver, ammunition, controlled substances, drug paraphernalia, cash, and documents with another individual's name on them. *Id.*; CP 42.

After the trial, Truong was sentenced to one-hundred-eighty months total confinement and appealed. *Truong*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 2. In his first appeal, he challenged the search for the first time on appeal. Truong argued that the police officer conducted an unlawful search and evidence from that search was used to convict him. *Id.* Notably, Truong did not dispute that his mother gave consent, but rather that she did not have authority to give consent. *Id.* at 3. Truong also argued that his attorney was

ineffective. *Id.* at 5-6. Finally, Truong argued several issues in a statement of additional grounds. The Court affirmed the conviction, finding that his unpreserved challenge was not manifest error and the record was insufficient. *Id.* at 7, Further, the Court of Appeals held that there was sufficient evidence and that the judgement and sentence does not violate a prohibition on double-jeopardy. *Id.* at 2-3, 7. The matter was ultimately remanded for resentencing. CP 37.

At resentencing, the parties agreed on an offender score of four and a range of sixty-eight months plus a day to one hundred months for the possession with intent to deliver conviction, which also included thirty-six months for a firearm enhancement. *State v. Truong*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1002, 1, WL 17820227 (2022) (unpublished)³; CP 66. The court imposed a low-end range of seventy months with a thirty-six-month firearm enhancement plus thirty-six months for unlawful possession of a firearm to run

³ Cited pursuant to GR 14.1 for background.

concurrently. *Id.* at 2; CP 67. Truong again appealed and argued that the trial court did not give meaningful consideration to his youthfulness in considering a request for an exceptional downward sentence and also claimed the court erred by not running the firearm enhancement concurrent to the base sentence. *Id* at 2-3; CP 66-67. The Court of Appeals affirmed, but the court did not have authority to run the enhancement concurrent with the low-end sentence of possession with intent to deliver. *Id.* at 3; CP 67.

On March 16, 2023, over five years after the original judgment and sentence was entered on February 20, 2019, Truong filed a CrR 7.8 motion for newly discovered evidence.⁴ CP 71. He provided an affidavit from himself. CP 87-89. He also provided one from his mother. CP 84-86. He attempted to again litigate the propriety of the search by arguing that law enforcement's search under DOC's statutory authority was

⁴ It should be noted that the motions and affidavits appear in the clerk's papers more than once.

invalid because he was on community custody from a conviction for UPCS. Specifically, Truong claims the newly discovered evidence in play is an order to vacate the record of his felony conviction as well as an affidavit from his mother. CP 75-78. Truong provided an untranslated affidavit from his mother. CP 84-86. Truong used his mother's belated affidavit and argued that his mother did not provide consent to search. He also argued that DOC's search was unlawful because his community custody was predicated on a conviction for possession of a controlled substance. CP 75-78. The trial court held a hearing, considered Truong's motion, and denied the motion. The court ruled that the evidence does not meet the factors for newly discovered evidence under CrR 7.8 and rejected the argument that the DOC search was unlawful. RP 29-30 (Report of Proceedings). Truong once again appealed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision.

In its reasoning, the Court of Appeals held that the order vacating his UPCS conviction did not entitle him to relief because DOC

had separate, valid statutory authority that DOC relied on to search Truong. Additionally, the UPCS statute Truong had previously been convicted under providing the basis for his community custody which was valid at the time of the search. Further, Truong had not moved to vacate his conviction at the time of the search and was still subject to the terms of his judgement and sentence. Finally, his mother's affidavit and testimony are not newly discovered evidence. They would not change the outcome of a trial because DOC had valid authority to search. Truong now petitions this Court for review of that decision.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY A REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS' RULING DOES NOT MEET CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Truong's assertions regarding the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court do not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). Truong does not assert grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

First, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), Truong now argues that the Court of Appeals' improperly extended this Court's holding in *State v. Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d 689, 55 P.3d 868 (2024) (In part rejecting that the UPCS statute is void ab initio) to Truong's matter and, furthermore, under RAP 13.4(b)(3), that the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Olsen* conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court holdings regarding

retroactive effect of a statute.

Here, Truong jumps past the topical decisions of the Washington Supreme Court regarding *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) to go to non-*Blake* related U.S. Supreme Court decisions to argue that this statute should be considered void ab initio. However, this Court, in considering federal case law, has rejected claims that this State's unlawful possession of a controlled substance is a non-existent crime and void ab initio. *Olsen*, 3 Wn.3d at 701; *State v. Willyard*, 3 Wn.3d 703, 715-16, 555 P.3d 876 (2024). The Court of Appeals properly followed precedent from this Court and the ruling does not conflict with the Washington or U.S. Supreme Court.

In *Olsen*, this Court reviewed a motion to withdraw guilty pleas in light of *Blake*. 3 Wn. 3d at 691. Lower courts vacated the UPCS conviction but denied a request to withdraw other pleas. *Id*. This Court held that the matter

was time-barred. *Id.* at 702. In part, the knowing and voluntariness of the pleas was attacked. *Id.* at 699. This Court rejected the argument that a plea was not knowing because *Blake* and that the statute should be considered void ab initio. *Id.* This Court disagreed that "an unconstitutional statute is a nullity, void ab initio, that renders a plea unknowing and unvoluntary. *Id.* at 701.

Instead, Olsen's pleas were valid under the law at the time they were entered. The proper remedy rather than absolute nullity was to vacate the conviction, not to "retroactively render his guilty pleas unknowing and involuntary." *Id.* In doing so, this Court noted its rejection of the concept that a law declared unconstitutional is automatically deemed a legal nullity from the beginning. *Id.* at 700. This Court noted the Supreme Court's rejection of an absolutist view on nullity of unconstitutional statutes. Rightfully so, this Court cited cases in its decision, such as *Chicot County Drainage Dist. v. Baxter*,

308 U.S. 371, 374, 60 S. Ct. 317, 84 L. Ed. 329 (1940) ("The actual existence of a statute, prior to such a determination, is an operative fact and may have consequences which cannot justly be ignored. The past cannot always be erased by a new judicial declaration."), Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282, 97 S. Ct. 2290, 53 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1977), and McKesson Corp. v. Div. of Alcohol Beverages and Tobacco, 496 U.S. 18, 110 S. Ct. 2238, 110 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1990).

The U.S. Supreme Court has explicitly recognized the issue and rejected that laws are always treated as absolute nullities and will still have affects to them. Washington Courts have held that the statute existed and have provided certain remedies based on the unconstitutionality of the statute, such as allowing the vacatur of UPCS convictions, and correction of offender scores, among others. But courts have also routinely rejected other claims, such as withdrawal of pleas, due to

the nature of the existence of the law as an operative fact, which also applies here.

In *Willyard*, this Court held similarly. Willyard brought a motion to withdraw guilty pleas, including UPCS. Willyard argued that an unconstitutional statute is a legal nullity. *Willyard*, 3 Wn.3d at 715. This Court rejected that notion and acknowledged that the doctrine of void ab initio was abandoned and, further, that the "line of cases is no longer good law and does not support the conclusion that a statute later found to be unconstitutional is a nonexistent crime."

The decisions of this Court are applicable to Truong because the doctrine of void ab initio is not a pick or choose proposition which is context dependent: either the statute is treated to have existed, or it was deemed to never exist.

This Court rejected the notion that the state statute should be treated as non-existent and void from the

beginning. Because the Court of Appeals followed this Court's determination, which considered the rejection of absolute nullity by the Supreme Court, it is not in conflict with Washington or the U.S. Supreme Court. Truong's UPCS conviction existed and was valid at the time of the DOC search.

Second, Truong argues that review should be granted because the issues in this case complement issues in *State v. Balles*, 32 Wn. App. 356, 556 P.3d 698 (2024), *review granted*, 4 Wn.3d 1006 (2025). However, he does not specifically present how this meets the requirements under RAP 13.4(b). Nevertheless, while *Balles* does involve a DOC search where *Blake* is implicated, the circumstances of *Balles* that merit review are much different than in Truong's case.

In *Balles*, the Court of Appeals reviewed the validity of a secretary's warrant that was issued before the decision in *Blake* but served after. *Balles*, 32 Wn. App. 2d

at 702. The real issue in that case involved the validity of the secretary's warrant after this Court's ruling in *Blake*. *See Balles*, 32 Wn. App. at 703. The court in Truong's matter also acknowledged that the main issue in *Balles* was whether the validly issued warrant remained valid and could be served after *Blake*. The holding in *Balles* regarding the validity of a warrant based on UPCS conviction served after *Blake* does not have an effect on the validity of a DOC search that occurred pre-*Blake*.

In stark contrast to *Balles*, the search in Truong's matter occurred entirely prior to *Blake*. Truong was on community custody due to a UPCS conviction. The Department of Corrections relied on his then valid UPCS conviction and judgement with community custody conditions as well as their statutory authority under RCW 9.94A.631(1) to search Truong based on reasonable cause of a violation. As courts have ruled that the UPCS statute was not void ab initio nor nonexistent, the conviction

placing him on community custody was valid at the time of Truong's search. Moreover, there was nothing to indicate to DOC or others that the UPCS conviction that predicated his community custody was unconstitutional. Courts prior the *Blake* had repeatedly held the statute to be constitutional. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004), *overruled in part by Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521; *Matter of Pleasant*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 320, 340, 509 P.3d 295 (2022).

The Court of Appeals in Truong's matter did not rely squarely on *Balles* to conclude DOC had authority, nor is *Balles* the only supportive authority. In *State v. Moses*, the court reviewed the issue of probable cause for a search warrant that was based on a statute and crime later deemed unconstitutional. The Court of Appeals rejected the idea that the invalidation of a statute retroactively affects probable cause for a warrant that was based on the statute. *State v. Moses*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 550, 512 P.3d 600

(2022), review denied, 518 P.3d 205 (2022). Of note in this decision, is the recognition that officer's reliance on the statute, RCW 69.50.4013(1), was reasonable because it was presumptively valid at the time. Moses, 22 Wn. App. at 561; see Michigan v. DeFillippo, 443 U.S. 31, 38, 99 S. Ct. 2627, 61 L. Ed.2d 343 (1979) ("The enactment of a law forecloses speculation by enforcement officers concerning its constitutionality—with the possible exception of a law so grossly and flagrantly unconstitutional that any person of reasonable prudence would be bound to see its flaws."); Pleasant, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 339 ("At the time Detective Jones sought a warrant to search Mr. Pleasant's car, persons of reasonable prudence would not have perceived former RCW 69.50.4013 as flawed in a way that made it unconstitutional"); State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 341–43, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (Warrantless search incident to arrest based on later invalidated statute was lawful.)

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